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September 24, 2009 

 

The Honorable Dave Stevens 

Assistant Secretary of Housing/ FHA Commissioner 

Department of Housing and Urban Development 

451 Seventh Street, SW 

Washington, DC 20410 

 

Dear Commissioner Stevens: 

As you know, amendments to the Federal Reserve’s Regulation Z, designed to protect consumers from 

certain unfair, abusive, or deceptive lending and servicing practices, are scheduled to become effective on 

October 1, 2009.1  This regulation will prohibit any first-lien higher-priced mortgage loan2 from charging a 

prepayment penalty, with limited exceptions.  NAR has long argued that FHA’s policy of requiring borrower 

to pay interest through the end of the month when prepaying a loan is a prepayment penalty.  Apparently, the 

Federal Reserve agrees. This requirement amounts to a prepayment penalty since FHA rules provide for 

borrowers to pay interest charges based on an outstanding principal loan amount that has already been fully 

paid.  There is a significant risk that starting next week FHA lenders will stop making FHA higher-priced 

mortgage loans to avoid significant potential liability for violating the revised Reg Z.3   

In 2004, FHA informed NAR that they could not change this policy as it is a Ginnie Mae (GNMA) 

requirement.  However, VA loans, which are also securitized under GNMA, do not have this policy, which 

suggests that GNMA has administrative flexibility to apply the same approach for FHA loans that it uses for 

VA loans.  I have enclosed previous correspondence with GNMA on this issue, as well as the analysis we 

conducted of the costs to FHA borrowers.  Based on that analysis (conducted using HUD’s own 2000-2003 

data), only 16% of FHA borrowers were able to avoid the penalty, and the average cost was $528 per 

borrower.  As homeowners face high housing and closing costs, this penalty places an unreasonable and often 

unexpected burden on FHA consumers.  The goal of the FHA program is to assist low- to moderate-income 

families.  Imposing interest penalties on FHA borrowers contradicts this goal. 

                                                      

1
 See 73 Fed. Reg. 44522 (July 30, 2008). 

2
 A first lien higher-priced mortgage loan is a loan with an interest rate that exceeds by at least 1.5 percentage points 

the Average Prime Offer Rate (APOR ) threshold  published by the Federal Reserve Board. 
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FHA’s prepayment policy unfairly penalizes the American consumer.  Effective October 1, 2009, Regulation 

Z will make this practice illegal for higher-priced mortgage loans and severely restrict the number of FHA 

loans lenders will be willing to make.  We urge FHA to eliminate this requirement for its borrowers, who 

make up a growing and significant share of the market today.  According to our previous analysis, 40% of 

borrowers closed on the first 10 days of the month.  In just the three years between 2000 and 2003, FHA 

borrowers paid over $1.375 billion in excess interest payments.  If HUD would provide us the necessary data, 

we would be pleased to run this analysis again, to update these numbers.   

Thank you for the opportunity to weigh in on this important issue.  We urge FHA to use the opportunity 

provided by Regulation Z to eliminate this requirement, and bring fairness to FHA borrowers.  In fact, we 

believe, Regulation Z virtually compels that this prepayment penalty be abolished in order to avoid a serious 

unintended consequence of removing the only mortgage option many American families have. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
 

Charles McMillan, CIPS, GRI 

2009 President, National Association of REALTORS® 

 

Attachment:  letter to GNMA, dated January 30, 2004 

cc: Thomas R. Weakland, Acting Executive Vice President, Ginnie Mae 
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January 30, 2004 

 

The Honorable Ronald A. Rosenfeld 

President 

Government National Mortgage Association 

Department of Housing and Urban Development 

Room 6100 

451 Seventh Street, SW 

Washington, DC 20410 

Dear Mr. Rosenfeld: 

On behalf of NAR, I want to express our appreciation for your continued communication and 

thoughtfulness concerning the issue of prepaid FHA interest that I brought to your attention in June of last 

year.  In response to your request of December 12, 2003, NAR also appreciates Ginnie Mae’s desire to know 

the analytical basis from which we conclude that FHA’s prepayment policy unfairly penalizes the American 

consumer.  We hope that the Department will use this information to make an “informed decision” on 

whether or not FHA’s loan payoff policy needs to be changed or the status quo will remain in place.  

Before delving into the statistical analysis, I would like to take this opportunity to reiterate what I believe to 

be the facts, maybe filled with anecdotes on my part, but still the facts to the average consumer: 

 Whether the homebuyer closes one day before the end of the month or any amount of days before the 
end of the month, they continue to pay interest on a loan, which has been paid off. No other loans of 
any type that I know of in the consumer arena are handled in such a manner. For example, the VA, 
which is also securitized under Ginnie Mae, does not charge their borrowers interest beyond the payoff 
date. Since Ginnie Mae does not object to having borrowers pay the interest; this allows lenders the 
leeway to charge this interest to the consumer. 

 Although lenders may lose interest (which they are not entitled to) on the previous house, they start 
charging interest on the new loan on the day of closing. It does not start at the beginning of the next 
month (i.e. - a loan payoff of $150,000 at 6.5% interest paid off 10 days before closing is $267.12 of 
interest penalty and if the new loan is $200,000 at 6% interest the 10 days would be $328.76, both paid 
by the consumer at the time of closing on FHA loans only). 

 Some may argue that if most loans close near the end of the month anyway, why would you need to 
change current policy? In actuality, how many people would be helped by changing FHA’s loan payoff 
policy? Setting aside the fairness issue, I would argue first, that even if it helps a few consumers that 
could use the extra funds to purchase their next home, this is good for the economy. If we based all of 
our efforts on only assisting a critical mass, there would be a number of existing programs and 
assistance avenues that would never have been started in the first place. Secondly, as will be discussed 
in the analysis, more than 40% of borrowers close in the first 10 days of the month.  



  

 

 Others may contend that if the FHA loan payoff policy were changed so consumers do not have to pay 
the prepayment penalty then lenders would no longer offer FHA financing or they would price it in to 
the cost of the loan. I would argue that the free market system in this country would take care of this. 
If a number of lenders made a financial decision to not participate in the FHA program, there would be 
astute lenders who would step in and see the opportunity to continue to meet this portion of the 
mortgage market. The FHA mortgage product has uses in the marketplace that the conventional 
mortgage cannot fill and thus will continue to be used by the consumer especially first time 
homebuyers. In addition, lenders continue to offer the VA loan product, which does not have this 
penalty. And based on a cursory analysis of current lending rates, VA loans price the same, or lower 
than FHA loans, so there does not appear to be an impact on loan rates. 

 Finally, I bring it back to this; the economic gainer or loser in this situation is the one who least can 
afford it, the consumer. Neither myself, my fellow REALTORS® nor NAR will receive any financial 
gain in this. It is an issue whether visceral or not of simple fairness. 

The attached analysis, which is based on HUD’s own data, clearly illustrates how much of a financial burden 

the consumer has to bear because of the prepayment penalty. The data is self-explanatory but I would like to 

point out a few facts:  

 In 2003, 55% of FHA borrowers paid an average of $528 in excess interest fees. 

 In 2003, over 425,000 FHA borrowers paid an average of $622 in excess interest fees. 

 In 2003, only 16% of loans were prepaid on the last 5 days of the month. 

 Every year for the last three years, approximately 25% of FHA loans were prepaid on the first 5 days of 
the month. 

 In 2003, FHA borrowers paid a cumulative $587,425,543 in excess interest fees. 

 Since January of 2000, FHA borrowers have paid over $1.375 BILLION in excess interest payments. 

NAR would hope that a decision that directly impacts the ability of the home buying public to purchase a 

home would not be solely based on empirical data. Making an “informed” and deliberate decision entails 

weighing the tangible and intangible consequences, but the ultimate decision has to be based on fundamental 

fairness. On behalf of NAR, I want to thank you for the opportunity to present our views on why FHA’s 

payoff policy should be changed. We look forward to continuing our good working relationship and if you 

have any questions you can contact me at 763-535-1471 or Peter Morgan at 202-383-1233. 

Sincerely, 

John W. Anderson 

2003 Chair, Federal Housing Policy Committee 

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS® 

cc: The Honorable John C. Weicher 

Assistant Secretary 

Housing/FHA Commissioner 

Attachment: FHA Single Family Mortgage Insurance:  Loan Characteristics By Day of Month of 
Mortgage Prepayment. 



  

 
 

 
 
 

  

 


